1993

William V. Penney v. E-Systems Inc., a Delaware corporation doing business in Utah, David A. Williams and Alfred B. Buchanan : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

#### JURISDICTION OF APPELLATE COURT

This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 78-2a-3(k) and Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 42. This case was poured-over to the Utah Court of Appeals by order the Utah Supreme Court dated June 3, 1993.

#### STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

**Summary judgment by the trial court.** Summary judgment is appropriate only when no genuine issue of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Because a summary judgment resolves only questions of law, the appellate court is to give no deference to the trial court's determination. In reviewing an entry of summary judgment, the appellate court is to view the facts in the light most favorable to the opposing party and affirm only where it appears no genuine dispute exists as to any material fact, and where the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Druffner v. Mrs. Fields, Inc., 828 P.2d 1075 (Utah App. 1992); Johnson v. Morton Thiokol, Inc., 818 P.2d 997, 999-1000 (Utah 1991); New West Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Guardian Title Co., 818 P.2d 585, 588 (Utah App. 1991). Where a party opposing a motion for summary judgment timely presents his affidavit stating reasons why he is presently unable to proffer evidentiary affidavits, he directly and forthrightly invokes the trial court's discretion.

Unless dilatory or lacking in merit, the motion should be liberally treated. Exercising a sound discretion the trial court then determines whether the stated reasons are adequate. Cox v. Winters, 678 P.2d 311 (Utah 1984); Strand v. Associated Students of University of Utah, 561 P.2d 191 (Utah 1977).

#### **DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS**

No constitutional provision, statute, ordinance, rule, or regulation necessarily is determinative of this appeal. Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 56 applies, however, to the Court's appellate decision.

#### **STATEMENT OF CASE**

##### **Nature of Case**

Plaintiff William V. Penney ("Penney") was wrongfully terminated by defendants on June 18, 1986, after more than five (5) years of continuous exemplary employment with defendant E-Systems' Montek Division in the State of Utah. Penney, as an employee, had rights to not be discriminated against because of his disabilities, not to be fired when he refused to engage in or keep quiet about illegal acts involving his employer and its management, to be dealt with in good faith, to have his employment contract faithfully performed by his employer, and not to have his employer or its management intentionally inflict emotional distress upon Penney. Penney commenced this action to recover damages for his wrongful termination and for defendants' violation and breach of each of the enumerated rights.

### Course of Proceedings Below

Penney filed his verified complaint ("Verified Complaint") in this action about June 15, 1990 for judgment against defendants on 5 causes of action (I. Discrimination against Disabled; II. Fraudulent & Dishonest Acts; III. Covenant of Good Faith & Fair Dealing; IV. Breach of Contract; V. Infliction of Emotional Distress). Defendants filed an Answer about August 2, 1990, more than 45 days after the Verified Complaint was filed and served on defendants.

About July 11, 1990 Penney served upon defendants Plaintiff's First Set Of Interrogatories and Request For Production Of Documents. On September 26, 1990, defendants responded to Penney's 1st Set of Interrogatories & Request For Production of Documents, more than 60 days after the interrogatories were served on defendants. On October 2, 1990, Penney noticed up the depositions of defendants David A. Williams and Alfred B. Buchanan. Neither of these depositions were ever taken because of scheduling objections of defendants and their counsel.

On July 11, 1990 Penney answered defendants' First Set of Interrogatories And Requests For Production Of Documents. Subsequently Defendants noticed up the deposition of Penney. Penney's counsel agreed to the taking of Penney's deposition subject to scheduling (mornings only) that would protect Penney's health, not impair his recovery from injury and consequent surgeries and allow him to be clear headed enough to

understand and answer deposition questions. The promise of mornings only was not kept. Penney was pushed beyond his physical and mental limits while being subjected to 2 1/2 full days of grueling interrogation, which Penney was able to endure only by the use of strong prescription pain medication which substantially affected Penney's ability to understand and answer deposition questions.

About September 24, 1991 defendants served their MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT, together with their MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF THEIR MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT, on Penney seeking dismissal of causes I, III, IV, IV, and V of the Verified Complaint. Defendants' Motion was granted by the district court's Order dated July 10, 1992.<sup>1</sup>

About August 3, 1992, the district court served on Penney a scheduling order requiring all discovery to be complete by December 1, 1992, and "all depositive motions to be heard by Jan 4, 1992." [sic.]

About December 31, 1992, defendants mailed to Penney defendants' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, together with defendants' MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, seeking dismissal of cause II, the only

---

<sup>1</sup> On June 18, 1992, Penney, an out-of-state litigant residing more than 1,000 miles away in Texas who had undergone major surgeries on 11/13/91 and 3/10/92 and was still convalescing therefrom, requested the district court to postpone a hearing on defendants' Motion For Partial Summary Judgment set for 6/19/1992. The ONLY basis given by the district court in its July 10, 1992 Order rejecting Penney's request was "(1) plaintiff is now representing himself; (2) plaintiff has not requested additional time to retain other counsel; and (3) there is no indication of when, if ever, plaintiff will be ready to attend a hearing on defendant's Motion."

remaining cause of Penney's Verified Complaint.

February 16, 1993, Penney filed with the district court PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE & FOR LEAVE TO COMPLETE DISCOVERY, together with supporting affidavits of Dr. Allen J. Meril, M.D., and Mr. William V. Penney.

The district court never granted or denied Penney's Motion For Continuance & For Leave. About February 16, 1993, the district court issued a Minute Entry granting defendants' Motion For Summary Judgment. About February 18, 1993, the district court issued a Minute Entry reaffirming its Minute Entry of February 16, 1993.<sup>2</sup>

About March 9, 1993, the district issued its ORDER granting defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, dismissing Penney's action, including all claims asserted therein, with prejudice. About March 9, 1993, the district court issued its JUDGEMENT granting judgment in favor of defendants and against Penney, dismissing plaintiff's action, including all claims asserted therein, with prejudice.

---

<sup>2</sup> In its 2/16/1993 Minute Entry granting defendants' Motion For Summary Judgment, the district court concluded that it had been "patient with Mr. Penney's efforts to get his case prepared so that he could go to trial" and that "Plaintiff has conducted essentially no discovery", even though Penney on 7/11/90 had served upon defendants 87 separate detailed interrogatories and 31 separate detailed requests for production of documents which were only partially answered by defendants; even though Penney, on 10/2/1990, noticed up the depositions of defendants Williams and Buchanan which never took place because of scheduling objections of defendants & their counsel, see R.70-71; even though Penney had promptly and diligently responded to defendants' interrogatories and request for production of documents; even though Penney was subjected to 2 1/2 full days of gruelling deposition questions notwithstanding agreement among counsel that Penney's deposition be limited to mornings only; and, even though Penney had been constantly deluged with a never ending barrage of discovery proceedings including no less than 16 Notices of Taking of Depositions (see appeals Index pp. 1-2; Docketing Statement attachments).

Penney timely filed a NOTICE OF APPEAL followed by a DOCKETING STATEMENT about May 10, 1993.

**STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The following facts are supported by the record, and are the same facts that were relied on by Penney in defending himself against summary judgment at the District Court level.<sup>3</sup>

1. In 1980, defendant E-Systems, Inc., ("E-Systems") sought out plaintiff William V. Penney ("Penney") for the purpose of hiring him as a procurement manager.

2. Penney had received a total disability from Social Security in 1972 because of prior industrial and job-related accidents that left him with respiratory and spine problems. Defendant E-Systems was aware of Penney's health concerns. E-Systems induced Penney to accept its offer of employment by representing the fact that E-Systems was self-insured and would, therefore, provide Penney with an essential health care policy that otherwise would have been difficult for him to obtain.

3. Penney relied upon defendant's promise of insurance coverage, and he joined E-Systems as a procurement manager in December 1980. E-Systems required Penney to relocate from his home in Texas to the state of Utah, where he remained until he was unlawfully fired from E-Systems on June 18, 1986.

4. Because of Penney's health problems, insurance was an essential benefit that Penney took care to preserve. At all times while employed at E-systems, Penney purchased the maximum

---

<sup>3</sup> See Addendum, Ex "F" Docketing Statement, p. 3 §4.

insurance provided under the company policy. He also made certain that he had long term disability insurance.

5. Penney had an excellent work record while he was employed at E-Systems. As procurement manager for the defendant, Penney earned numerous raises, commendations and promotions. Eventually, Penney rose to the position of Director of Purchasing in E-Systems' Montek division.

6. Throughout his employment with E-Systems, Penney never received any warnings, notices, progressive discipline or other negative or adverse personnel actions, and E-Systems was unable to cite any instance where Penney exceeded the budget for his department.

7. From about 1985, defendant David A. Williams ("Williams") became the general manager of E-Systems' Montek Division. Williams attempted to intimidate and coerce Penney into resigning his position with E-Systems. Williams' intimidation took various forms: 1) mocking and deriding Penney's physical disabilities, 2) forcing Penney and his department to work thousands of hours of uncompensated overtime (in direct violation of public policy and E-Systems regulations), and 3) taunting Penney with job termination if he did not meet all Williams' arbitrary goals or if the department did not remain under budget.

8. On or about May 9, 1986, Penney was injured in a hit-and-run accident, which caused him immediate, intense and continuous pain in three separate areas of his spine: cervical,

lumbar, and thoracic. Penney received an emergency room medical examination and treatment, a prescription for flexeril - a strong muscle relaxant, and a recommendation that he immediately see defendant E-Systems' inhouse doctor.

9. Though Penney then had about 200 hours of accrued sick leave and about 40 hours of vacation, his requests for time to see defendant E-Systems' inhouse physician Dr. Hensleigh or to obtain other medical help were refused by defendant Williams who threatened that Penney would lose his job if he did not promptly complete all of his assigned tasks.

10. Paranthetically it was not until after Penney was fired that he was finally examined by and received limited treatment from E-Systems' doctor, Dr. Hensleigh, who recommended that Penney go to his orthopedic specialist in Texas, Dr. Meril.

11. Penney asked defendant Williams for permission to take sick leave/leave of absence and a temporary abatement of excessive overtime to help Penney recover from the injuries he had sustained in the hit-and-run accident. Williams refused. Instead, he threatened to fire Penney if he failed to quickly complete the projects on which he was currently working.

12. Shortly before June 18, 1986, Penney completed the projects which he had been given. Penney then began to hear rumors that his department would soon be reorganized with a new director. He feared that Williams was finally taking steps to carry out his numerous threats.

13. Penney spent several days preparing a job Justification

Package which he intended to present as a last resort to persuade E-Systems Montek Division's management that he should not be fired.

14. As he had expected, on June 18, 1986, Penney was summoned to an "organizational meeting" chaired by defendant Williams. The purpose of the meeting was to carry out the firing of Penney.<sup>4</sup>

15. Penney brought with him to the meeting the "Justification Package" that he had prepared. Defendant Williams was furious that Penney had anticipated his actions, and he immediately fired Penney. Later that day, Williams issued orders that confirmed Penney's wrongful discharge of employment with E-Systems.

16. Following the "organizational meeting," Penney returned to his office. He followed the advice of defendant E-Systems' contract consultant and changed the title on the cover memo of his Justification Package to read "letter of resignation" (leaving the effective date blank) and modified the final paragraph of the memo. In a last ditch effort to keep his job, Penney delivered one set of his Justification Package to defendant Williams' and one set to Penney's immediate supervisor, Mr. Cocke.

---

<sup>4</sup> Defendants expressly admitted that "the termination of plaintiff's employment was discussed by management prior to his [alleged] resignation" and that "Mr. Cocke recommended to Mr. Williams that plaintiff be terminated." Williams concurred and Cocke then consulted with Buchanan who also thought firing would be appropriate. (See Addendum Exhibit "A" Defendants' Response No. 54 to Plaintiff's 1st Set of Interrogatories. See also Affidavit of David A. Williams, paragraph 7 at R.478.)

17. The Justification Package submitted by Penney to Mr. Cocke and defendant Williams documented the "back-breaking overtime load" demanded by Williams and E-Systems, and that Penney objected to certain recent and proposed changes that would require additional excessive overtime to implement.

18. By said Justification Package, Penney also indicated that he was being forced out of employment with E-Systems by the excessive, uncompensated overtime being unfairly and illegally imposed upon exempt salaried employees, including himself.

19. Penney was summoned to Mr. Cocke's office to meet with him and defendant Mr. Alfred B. Buchanan ("Buchanan"), manager of Human Resources at E-Systems' Montek Division. Mr. Cocke confirmed Williams' earlier firing of Penney by filling in the blank resignation space on the face of the modified memo attached to Penney's Justification Package. Mr. Cocke wrote in the date June 18, 1986.

20. Penney immediately asked defendant Buchanan about severance benefits and specifically requested insurance conversion. Penney asked Buchanan to give him the necessary paperwork that would enable him to convert all of his E-Systems insurance to private non-E-Systems insurance. Defendant Buchanan promised to take care of the matter and report to Penney at his Exit Interview. Although Penney requested an Exit Interview, the interview was never granted. While Penney was packing up his personal belongings, he had a telephone conversation with Buchanan and again requested insurance conversion.

21. Although defendant Buchanan had promised to meet with Penney, perform an Exit Interview, and provide Penney with all necessary insurance conversion forms, he refused and failed to hold the Exit Interview.

22. Buchanan also delayed sending Penney the necessary insurance conversion forms until it was too late for him to convert his E-System insurance policy to a policy underwritten by a private (non E-Systems) insurance company. Buchanan's grossly negligent act has resulted in Penney's losing his insurance shortly after his wrongful termination and in Penney's remaining uninsured to this date.

23. Meanwhile, Penney has been forced to assume an enormous financial burden because of his uninsured status. After undergoing conservative treatment and physical therapy, Penney's physical condition and corresponding mental condition have continued to deteriorate. Penny underwent five major surgeries as medical treatment for the injuries and pain caused by the hit and run accident of May 9, 1986, while still employed by defendant E-Systems.<sup>5</sup>

24. On June 15, 1990, Penney initiated this current action in the Third Judicial District Court, In and For Salt Lake County, in the State of Utah. Penney sought relief under Utah contract and tort common law for his wrongful termination of employment.

---

<sup>5</sup> See Docketing Statement, p. 6, for a complete description of the surgeries.

25. Promptly after filing the lawsuit, Penney began discovery against defendants by serving on them eighty-seven (87) separate detailed formal written interrogatories and thirty-one (31) separate detailed formal written requests for production of documents.

26. Many of these requests, defendants failed or refused to answer completely. Other of these requests, defendants failed or refused to answer at all. On numerous occasions, Penney's former attorney tried to schedule the depositions of the defendants, but he was prevented from doing so by scheduling conflicts of defendants and/or their counsel. However, Penney was subjected to a grueling multi-day deposition to facilitate the ongoing discovery process, although his injuries caused him severe pain during this ordeal.

27. Because of the horrendous medical and legal expenses occasioned by the acts and omissions of defendants complained of in Penney's Verified Complaint, Penney was forced to declare Chapter 7 bankruptcy and, consequently, has been forced to forego having counsel for and to represent himself Pro Se for much of the remainder of this proceeding.

28. Although Penney informed the trial court that he was proceeding without counsel and that he was scheduled for mandatory back surgery on August 19, 1992, as part of his ongoing medical treatment, the trial court imposed upon Penney an unreasonable scheduling order. Penney, who was then enduring day-to-day on strong prescription pain medication, was forced to

risk his life <sup>6</sup> to make a painful and expensive trip from Texas to Salt Lake City, Utah to attend an August 3, 1992 pre-trial hearing with the district judge or face immediately dismissal of his lawsuit per the terms of the district court's scheduling order.

29. The trial court was advised that Penney's recovery from the August 19, 1992, back surgery would be slow and painful and would greatly impair Penney's ability to complete his discovery and pre-trial motions. The trial court was also aware that Penney was greatly disadvantaged in his prosecution of this lawsuit because he was forced to remove from Utah and reside in Texas during the course of his medical treatment.

30. The scheduling order issued on August 3, 1992, (only two weeks prior to Penney's major surgery) set the case for trial on March 1, 1993, and required an end to discovery by 12/31/92 and all dispositive motions to be heard by "Jan 4. 1992." (sic.)<sup>7</sup> Penney assumed that the time had passed for dispositive motions, not realizing that the year listed in the date provided by the court was in error. In addition to incorrect dates contained in this scheduling order, it was further confusing to Penney because it omitted certain apparent critical information like the date by which jury instructions were due, and the date by which exhibit

---

<sup>6</sup> See Affidavit of Allen J. Meril, M.D. at R.565.

<sup>7</sup> Other examples of confusing signals sent by the district court to Penney were omission in the 8/3/92 scheduling order of due date for jury instructions, due date for exhibit and witness list exchange, failure of district court to give Penney notice of cancellation of court scheduled 2/22/93 pretrial settlement conference. See R.423-424.

and witness lists were to be exchanged.

31. Defendants subsequently moved for Summary Judgment against Penney, and it was granted. When Penney petitioned the court to allow for a completion of discovery and an extension of the deadline for dispositive motions, the court did not rule on Penney's motion, choosing rather to issue the order granting Summary Judgment.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Penney seeks a ruling from this court overturning the trial court's order granting summary judgment to the defendants.

In support of this petition, Mr. Penney will show:

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