1993

William V. Penney v. E-Systems Inc., a Delaware corporation doing business in Utah, David A. Williams and Alfred B. Buchanan : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The District Court correctly granted defendant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. The Appellate Court cannot consider

plaintiff's arguments related to this Motion because they were never raised before the District Court; therefore, plaintiff has failed to show that the District Court erred in granting that Motion. Even if the Appellate Court were to consider plaintiff's argument, it still must affirm the District Court's granting of this Motion because the District Court correctly dismissed with prejudice the four causes of action addressed in this Motion for the following reasons: (A) plaintiff's first cause of action is barred by the Utah Anti-Discrimination Act as a matter of law; (B) plaintiff's third cause of action fails because a claim for breach of an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing is not recognized by Utah law in the employment context, and there is no genuine issue as to whether E-Systems established an express covenant of good faith and fair dealing; (C) plaintiff's fourth cause of action is preempted by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act as a matter of law; and (D) plaintiff's fifth cause of action fails because there is no admissible evidence in the record which would allow plaintiff to establish key elements of this claim. Further, this claim is preempted by the Utah Workers' Compensation Act.

II. The District Court also properly granted defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on plaintiff's claim for wrongful termination in violation of public policy. The undisputed facts are that plaintiff's employment ended as a result of his submission of his Letter of Resignation, which was accepted by E-Systems. Further, even if plaintiff had been discharged from his employment,

he would have no claim that his termination violated a clear and substantial public policy of this State. Finally, in response to defendants' Motion, plaintiff offered no admissible evidence in the record showing the existence of any triable issue of material fact.

III. The District Court did not abuse its discretion when it set the discovery cutoff date. The Appellate Court must assume that the District Court properly exercised its discretion when it set the discovery cutoff date unless the record clearly shows to the contrary. Plaintiff has failed to make such a showing.

IV. The District Court did not abuse its discretion when it denied plaintiff's belated Motion for Extension of Time. The Appellate Court must assume that the District Court properly exercised its discretion when it denied plaintiff's Motion for Extension of Time unless the record clearly shows to the contrary. Plaintiff has failed to make such a showing.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY GRANTED DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

A. The Appellate Court Cannot Consider Plaintiff's Arguments Related To Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Because They Were Never Raised Before The District Court.

The Utah Supreme Court and the Utah Court of Appeals have repeatedly held that they will not consider issues on appeal which were not raised before the District Court. See, e.g., Turtle Management, Inc. v. Haggis Management, 645 P.2d 667, 671 (Utah 1982) ("This Court will not consider on appeal issues which were not submitted to the District Court"); State v. Castner, 825 P.2d 699, 705 n.4 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) ("We will not consider an argument on appeal unless it was raised at the District Court."); LeBaron & Assoc. v. Rebel Enters., 823 P.2d 479, 482-84 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

In the instant case, none of plaintiff's arguments opposing defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, which plaintiff now asserts for the first time in his Brief, were raised before the District Court, and the District Court did not have an opportunity to rule on them. Therefore, these arguments cannot be considered. Turtle Management, 645 P.2d at 671; Castner, 825 P.2d at 705 n.4; LeBaron, 823 P.2d at 482-84. There is no justification for departure from this rule in the instant case. Plaintiff had more than ample opportunity to respond to the Motion for Partial Summary

Judgment and to make arguments opposing the Motion before the District Court; he simply failed to do so.⁴

Therefore, plaintiff has failed to show that the District Court erred in granting the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, and the District Court's decision must be affirmed.

B. The District Court Correctly Dismissed With Prejudice The Four Causes Of Action Addressed In Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.

Even if the Court of Appeals could consider plaintiff's arguments now attacking the granting of defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, it still must affirm the District Court's

⁴ Prior to the trial court's ruling on the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, plaintiff, while represented by counsel, conducted extensive discovery. See discussion on discovery above. For nearly six months after defendants filed their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, plaintiff, who was represented by counsel at the time, was repeatedly granted extensions to complete discovery related to that Motion and to respond to that Motion. R.254, 258, 327, 304-05. Plaintiff conducted discovery, R.306; however, he never responded to the Motion. On April 14, 1992, one month after the expiration of plaintiff's final extension, defendants filed a Notice to Submit for Decision and sent a copy of the Notice to plaintiff. R.399, 402. On June 9, 1992, the trial court approved oral argument on defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, instructed defendants' counsel to notice the matter on the court's Friday law and motion calendar, and sent copies of the Approval for Oral Argument to the parties. R.405. On June 12, 1992, defendants noticed the hearing for June 19, 1992 and sent notice of the hearing date to plaintiff. R.406-408. On the afternoon before the hearing was scheduled to take place, plaintiff, despite having had nearly two months notice that a hearing on the Motion would be held, sent, via facsimile, a letter to the clerk of the trial court requesting that the hearing on defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment be rescheduled. R.409. The trial court went ahead with the hearing on June 19, 1992 (nearly nine months after defendants filed their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment) at which it granted defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and dismissed plaintiff's first, third, fourth, and fifth causes of action with prejudice. R.416, 420-22. Plaintiff did not participate in the hearing in person or via telephone. R.416

ruling because, as the following discussion shows, the District Court's ruling was proper.

1. Plaintiff's first cause of action (breach of public policy against employment discrimination of the disabled).

In his Complaint's first cause of action, plaintiff alleges defendants violated public policy by terminating him because of his disability. R.11. Id.⁵

The District Court correctly dismissed this claim with prejudice because it is barred by the Utah Anti-Discrimination Act ("UADA").⁶

⁵ Plaintiff also claims that Utah public policy requires all employers receiving federal financial assistance to comply with the requirements of § 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. R.10. Plaintiff offers no support for the proposition that the federal Rehabilitation Act is somehow incorporated into Utah State public policy. In any event, § 504 of the Rehabilitation Act is inapplicable to the instant case because defendant E-Systems does not receive and has not received, at any time relevant to this action, "federal financial assistance," which is required under § 504. R.222; 29 U.S.C. § 794(a). Therefore, plaintiff's claim related to § 504 fails.

In his Brief, plaintiff for the first time invokes § 503 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973. Section 503 cannot support plaintiff's claim. First, there is no private right of action under § 503. Hodges v. Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe Ry. Co., 728 F.2d 414 (10th Cir. 1984) cert. denied, 469 U.S. 822 (1984). Second, § 503 preempts "a qualified handicapped individual's claim under state law as a third party beneficiary of the affirmative action clause contained in contracts between his employer and the federal government." Howard v. Uniroyal, Inc., 719 F.2d 1552, 1555 (11th Cir. 1983). Third, plaintiff offers no support for the proposition that the federal Rehabilitation Act is somehow incorporated into Utah State public policy. Finally, plaintiff points to no admissible evidence in the record which supports the key factual allegations related to this claim.

⁶ As noted above at § I.A., none of plaintiff's arguments related to his fourth cause of action should be considered because plaintiff did not raise those arguments below.

The UADA provides the exclusive remedy under state law for employment discrimination based on handicap; therefore, the UADA bars all common law claims for employment discrimination based upon handicap, including plaintiff's first cause of action. Utah Code Ann. § 34-35-7.1(15) (Michie Supp. 1993); Retherford v. AT&T Communications, 844 P.2d 949, 963 (Utah 1992).

In the instant case, under the indispensable element test, which the Utah Supreme Court adopted in Retherford, plaintiff's first cause of action is preempted by the UADA because the UADA addresses employment discrimination based on handicap, which is a necessary element of plaintiff's claim. Retherford, 844 P.2d at 965.; Utah Code Ann. § 34-35-6(1)(a)(i) (Michie Supp. 1993). Indeed, plaintiff's proposed public policy claim is indistinguishable from the claim found to be barred in Retherford. In that case, the plaintiff relied upon the UADA's express prohibition of "retaliation" against persons complaining of discrimination as the basis for her "public policy" claim. Retherford, 844 P.2d at 965. Here, plaintiff relies upon the prohibition against "handicap"

In support of their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, defendants established through admissible evidence the underlying material facts which supported their Motion. See R.5-7. Plaintiff failed to specifically controvert these material facts in an opposing memorandum; therefore, these facts are deemed admitted for the purpose of summary judgment. Utah Code Jud. Admin. R.4-501(2)(b). Even if these material facts were not deemed to be admitted, plaintiff has failed to point out any admissible evidence in the record which could now be used to controvert the material facts upon which defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was based.

discrimination. Plaintiff's claim is thus foreclosed for the very reasons articulated in Retherford.⁷

2. Plaintiff's third cause of action (breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing).

In his third cause of action, plaintiff alleges he was forced to resign arbitrarily and without good cause in violation of a covenant of good faith and fair dealing. R.14.

The District Court correctly dismissed this claim with prejudice for the following reasons.⁸ First, a claim for breach of an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing is not recognized by Utah law in the employment context. Brehany v. Nordstrom, Inc., 812 P.2d 49, 55-56 (Utah 1991); Berube v. Fashion Centre, Ltd., 771 P.2d 1033 (Utah 1989).

Second, there is no genuine issue as to whether E-Systems established anything that plaintiff now would call an "express" covenant of good faith and fair dealing.⁹ In support of his

⁷ Courts in other jurisdictions have also uniformly refused to recognize a public policy common law claim where a statutorily-created administrative process provides a remedy for the underlying injury, even in the absence of an express exclusive remedy provision. See e.g., Polson v. Davis, 895 F.2d 705, 709 (10th Cir. 1990) (holding that Kansas would not recognize a public policy wrongful discharge claim based on a statutorily-created public policy prohibiting employment discrimination where administrative remedy available); Jones v. Indus. Elec.-Seattle, 768 P.2d 520, 522 (Wash. App. 1989) (no public policy wrongful discharge claim for retaliatory discrimination where statute provides administrative remedy).

⁸See note 6 above.

⁹ Again, plaintiff should not be permitted to declare and respond to defendant's Motion in the lower court, and now re-characterize his claim on appeal.

argument that there is such an issue, plaintiff relies entirely on defendants' responses to plaintiff's First Set of Interrogatories. See Plaintiff's Brief at 28-30. Plaintiff's reliance on those responses is misplaced because: (1) those responses are not even properly before this Court; (2) plaintiff mischaracterizes some of those responses;¹⁰ and (3) those responses could not be the basis for any conclusion that E-Systems established an "express" covenant of good faith and fair dealing with plaintiff. Therefore, plaintiff has failed to raise a genuine issue as to this fact. See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)

Therefore, the District Court correctly dismissed plaintiff's second cause of action with prejudice.

3. Plaintiff's fourth cause of action (breach of contract).

In his breach of contract claim, plaintiff alleges defendant Buchanan failed to provide plaintiff with conversion forms necessary to convert his health and life insurance to individual insurance policies. R.7-9.

The District Court correctly dismissed this claim with prejudice because it is preempted by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act ("ERISA").

ERISA preempts all state laws, including private causes of action, which "relate to" any "ERISA-governed employee benefit plan." 29 U.S.C.A. § 1144(a) (West 1985); Shaw v. Delta Airlines,

¹⁰ See, e.g., plaintiff's characterizations of defendants' responses to interrogatories 32, 54, and 58 on pages 29 and 30 of plaintiff's Brief.

Inc., 463 U.S. 85, 90 (1983); Pilot Life Ins. Co. v. Dedeaux, 481 U.S. 41, 45, 54 (1987). "'A law 'relates to' an employee benefit plan, in the normal sense of the phrase, if it has a connection with or reference to such a plan.'" Ingersoll-Rand Co. v. McClendon, 498 U.S. ___, 111 S. Ct. 478, 112 L. Ed. 474, 484 (1990) (quoting Shaw, 463 U.S. at 96-97). In short, any state statute, state common law claim, or regulation which refers to or has a connection with an ERISA-governed plan is preempted by ERISA.

In McClendon, the Supreme Court held that a state common law claim, which asserted that an employee was unlawfully terminated to prevent the attainment of rights under an employee benefit plan, was explicitly preempted by ERISA because it made reference to and was premised on the existence of an ERISA-governed employee benefits plan, and thus it "related to" that plan. Id. at 484-86. The Court held that the state common law claim was also impliedly preempted by ERISA because it conflicted directly with ERISA due to the fact that it was essentially a claim under ERISA Section 510, which prohibits interference with an employee's rights or attainment of rights under a plan. Id. at 486-87.

In the instant case, plaintiff's breach of contract claim is expressly preempted by ERISA. Plaintiff's breach of contract claim is premised entirely upon the alleged failure of defendant Buchanan to provide plaintiff with conversion forms necessary to convert his health and life insurance to individual insurance policies.¹¹ R.7-

¹¹ Even though plaintiff alleges in his Complaint that he was entitled to a one-on-one "exit interview" with Buchanan, he has failed to identify anything he would have gained out of such an

9. The duty to provide plaintiff with the conversion forms arises out of and is wholly dependent on the E-Systems Health Care and Weekly Income Disability Plan and the E-Systems Pru-opt Plan,¹² both of which are "welfare benefit plans" under ERISA.¹³ See 29 U.S.C.A. § 1002(1)(A) (West Supp. 1993) (expressively defining "welfare benefit plans"). Definition of "Welfare Benefit Plan" quoted above. Therefore, plaintiff's breach of contract claim, like the common law claim in McClendon, "relates to" ERISA-governed employee benefit plans and is explicitly preempted by ERISA.¹⁴ See

interview other than an insurance conversion form.

¹² The procedure for converting to an individual hospital and surgical expense policy is set forth in E-Systems' Health Care and Weekly Income Disability Plan as follows: "Application for the individual policy must be made and the first premium paid within 31 days from the termination of the Plan coverage A form to be used for this purpose will be furnished by the benefits office." R.236 (Exhibit A to Buchanan Affidavit at 14). Similarly, the procedure for converting to an individual life insurance policy upon termination is set forth in E-Systems' PRU-OPT Plan as follows: "You must obtain a conversion form from the Benefits office and take it, along with your certificate of Pru-Opt coverage, to the nearest Prudential office for processing within 31 days of your termination date." R.242, 248 (Exhibit B to Buchanan Affidavit at 3, 15).

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